### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED	
OCT 12 1990	\ شد
Bland Sark	

JAMES SAVAGE,	)
Appellant,	) }
vs.	) CASE NO. 75,494
STATE OF FLORIDA,	
Appellee.	) }
	<del></del>

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR BREVARD COUNTY FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES B. GIBSON
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

CHRISTOPHER S. QUARLES ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER CHIEF, CAPITAL APPEALS 112-A Orange Ave. Daytona Beach, Fla. 32114 (904)252-3367

CLIVE A. STAFFORD SMITH 83 Poplar Strret, N.W. Atlanta, Ga. 30303. (404) 688-1202

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

#

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 13, 1988, the fall term grand jury, Brevard County, indicted James Hudson Savage for first-degree murder, armed robbery, and sexual battery. (R3357) Prior to trial, Mr. Savage unsuccessfully attempted to exclude certain physical evidence and DNA test results. (R3395-99) Savage also unsuccessfully sought to suppress statements made at the time of his arrest. (R3107-10,3435)

The defense requested prior to trial that any requests for funds for expert assistance be conducted on an <u>ex parte</u> basis. (R1941,3451-76) When the state objected (R1958), the court refused to accept motions not served on the prosecution. (R1964,2080)

The case proceeded to a jury trial before the Honorable Lawrence V. Johnston, Eighteenth Judicial Circuit. The trial court rebuffed Appellant's request for individual voir dire. (R3400)

During the trial, the court overruled numerous defense objections and allowed the state to admit certain evidence. (R986,1024,1071,1102,1115,1118-19,1121,1126,1132,1262-65,2099)

The trial court also denied a requested instruction dealing with James Savage's intoxication at the time of the offense. (R1423,1471) The court instructed the jury as to the maximum and minimum penalties on all lesser-included offenses over the vehement objection by defense counsel. (R1446-7,1523) Additionally, the trial court attempted to define "reasonable doubt" for the jury. (R1541)

At the conclusion of the state's case-in-chief, defense counsel moved for a judgment of acquittal which the trial court denied. (R1352-66,1370) Following deliberations, the jury returned with verdicts of guilty as charged on each of the three counts. (R1599-1602,3448-50)

A penalty phase commenced on December 11, 1989. (R2263 et. seq.) The trial court excluded many defense witnesses and much mitigating evidence at the penalty phase. (R2422-92,2393-2418,2506-37,2550-68,2625-6) The court also allowed the state to introduce evidence that James Savage had been released from prison only 23 days prior to the crime. (R2571-91)

James Savage's lead counsel at the penalty phase, Mr. John Delgado, was forced to refrain from any further participation

shortly after that phase started. The state forced Delgado to withdraw when they threatened him with criminal prosecution. (R2647-66,2818-19)

The trial court instructed the jury on two aggravating circumstances over defense objection. (R2198-2233,2994,3540)

Despite the many hardships suffered by the defense during the penalty phase, the jury returned with an overwhelming 11-1 recommendation that James Savage deserved to live the rest of his life in prison. (R3580) The trial court chose to ignore this mandate and sentenced James Savage to death. (R3580-88) The trial court found: (1) that the murder was cold, calculated and premeditated without any pretense of any moral or legal justification; (2) that the murder was committed while the defendant was engaged in the commission of a sexual battery; (3) that the murder was committed for pecuniary gain; (4) that the murder was especially heinous, atrocious and cruel; and (5) that the defendant had previously been convicted of a prior violent felony. (R3581-3)

In mitigation the trial court found that James Savage was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance at the time of the murder. (R3583) The court also found that James' capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law was impaired, although not substantially. (R3584) Although the trial court apparently accepted the unrebutted evidence that James Savage had a mental age of fourteen at the time of the offense, the court declined to find

any link between that fact and the crime. (R3584) The trial court also found many non-statutory mitigating circumstances, including: (1) emotional abuse as a child; (2) an unstable early life; (3) childhood beatings; (4) James Savage's forcible cross-racial and cultural adoption; (5) James' exposure to racism; and (6) the harsh discipline of his adoptive parents. (R3584-5) The trial court declined to give any significant weight to this overwhelming mitigating evidence. (R35) The trial court sentenced James Savage to two consecutive life terms on the robbery and the sexual battery. (R3574-7) James Savage filed a timely notice of appeal on February 1, 1990. (R3589-90) This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Article V, Section 3(b)(1) of the Florida Constitution.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

#### GUILT PHASE

On November 25, 1988, Marcia Denius discovered the body of Barbara Ann Barber in the alley behind Barber's interior design shop in Melbourne. (R992-1002) Barber's clothes were in disarray. (R1100) A subsequent autopsy indicated that Barber died as the result of asphyxiation due to strangulation. (R1149-50)

At the time of the murder, James Savage was a transient in He had been spotted in the vicinity of the Melbourne area. Barber's shop during the evening hours of November 23, 1988. After the crime scene had been processed, officers (R1241-43) Plymale and Baker began scouting the downtown area hoping to find people with information about the crime. (R1247-50) In a way more reminiscent of Casablanca's "rounding up the usual suspects" than an arrest based on probable cause, Plymale and Baker encountered Savage and several other transients loitering in a picnic area. Although everyone denied knowing anything about the crime, Detectives Sarver and Nichols arrived at the scene, and transported Savage to the police station. (R1250-54) After several hours of detention, interrogation, and gathering of physical evidence, the police were of the opinion that they had insufficient evidence to charge Savage with the murder. (R1255, 1719-20, 1696)

The authorities ultimately arrested James Savage and charged him with violation of probation. (R1751-60) Following the conclusion of the proceedings below, the Department of Corrections revealed that James Savage had not been on probation after all.

(<u>See</u> attached appendix) After his arrest, Savage made certain incriminating statements indicating that he was present at the scene when another individual murdered Barber in the course of robbery. (R1277-95) At the jail the next day, Savage gave another statement indicating that he acted alone. (R1296-1311) Savage had been drinking and smoking crack cocaine for several days prior to the incident. (R1309) He intended to steal Barber's car in order to buy more cocaine. Barber surprised him during the course of the theft and the incident turned violent. The police admitted that James was docile, cooperative, and remorseful. (R1307-8)

#### PENALTY PHASE

The prosecution of James Savage created as much publicity as any recent capital murder case in the State in recent years. The public interest was sparked less by the crime itself than by the actors involved. On the one side, the victim was a well-respected local business woman; on the other side the accused, James Savage — unfortunately so named as a result of his adoption by the Rev. Graeme and Nesta Savage — was the only full-blood aboriginal Australian in the State, on trial for his life.

That the jury would find James Savage guilty was a foregone conclusion, as a result of the saturation publicity detailing his confessions. However, an attentive jury comprised of a cross-section of the community -- from a member of the National Rifle Association (NRA) to a woman who had herself been adopted -- opted by an overwhelming eleven-to-one vote for life.

It is no secret why the jury thought this case deserved life. They heard some, although not all, of the rather shocking circumstances of James' adoption into a white family. A white officer of the "Aboriginal Welfare Board" had threatened his aboriginal mother, Beverly Moore, with prosecution for adultery if she did not give her new-born son up for adoption. (R2316-32,2351-71)

Fate chose then to torment the baby, then named Russell Moore, with the adoptive name of James Savage, which he bore to America when his new parents moved. If a defenseless minority is more likely than average to bear the burden of discrimination, James became a minority of one in the State of Florida. Even his own adoptive father -- put on the stand as a witness by the prosecution at the penalty phase -- called him "Nigger" and beat him, for adolescent misdeeds committed by his white siblings. (R2372-91,2914-25)

Rev. Savage became a minister at the Florida State Prison, where James now resides under sentence of death. While the family lived here, James met discrimination in the local church, in school and in every walk of life. (R2760-5) His private escape from the age of eleven on, uncurbed by his adoptive parents, was to turn to the bottle. (R2766-7,2795)

James' family went back to Australia. However, he later returned to Starke as a prisoner, where he learned still more destructive forms of addiction. It was when he came out of this experience that James Savage was allegedly involved in the crime charged in this case. At the time of this crime, his whole life

revolved around his next "fix" of crack cocaine. (R2830-5) Adding on top of all this James' schizoid personality and other mental problems, it is small wonder that the jury voted for life. (R2770-1)

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

Mr. Savage submits his brief in two sections. The first section addresses the reason why his sentence of death should be reversed and remanded for entry to a sentence of life without the possibility of parole for twenty-five years. Initially, Mr. Savage contends that the trial court should not have overridden an 11-1 jury vote for life in the face of the overwhelming evidence presented in mitigation. Tedder v. State, 322 So.2d 908 (Fla. 1975). The mitigating evidence included James Savage's traumatic, formative experience as the only full-blooded Aboriginal in the State of Florida. The undisputed evidence also demonstrated that Jim Savage became incapacitated due to the overwhelming abuse of mind-altering drugs, including alcohol, marijuana, and crack cocaine which he used for a solid two weeks prior to the murder. James Savage suffers from brain damage as a result of his continual abuse of alcohol beginning at the tender age of eleven. His mental age had arrested at approximately fourteen at the time of the Additionally, James Savage showed great remorse for his actions. Following his arrest, he cooperated fully and completely The trial judge discounted some of this with the police. mitigating evidence and gave little weight to the rest of it.

The trial court also improperly considered certain evidence in elevating Savage's sentence to death. He relied upon hearsay evidence which Savage had no opportunity to rebut. The trial court also relied in part on Savage's violation of probation. The state

has now admitted that Mr. Savage was not on probation at the time of the crime.

The trial court also excluded critical evidence in mitigation. The jury never heard about the historical roots of Aboriginals and their contemporary problems set in this cultural context. The trial court considered evidence that pertained only to James Savage's first six years of life as "too remote in time." (R2491) The trial court also allowed the jury to improperly consider non-statutory aggravating factors, specifically that Savage had been released from prison only twenty-three days before the crime occurred.

John Delgado, Mr. Savage's lead counsel at the penalty phase, felt forced to exclude himself from most of the trial after the state threatened to prosecute him for a criminal charge that had no basis in fact. During a recess, Mr. Delgado made a passing remark to Mr. Savage's adoptive father who was called as a witness for the prosecution. The state refused to back down from their position and insisted that they intended to pursue criminal charges as well as bar sanctions. As a result of these very real threats by the state, Mr. Delgado excluded himself from any further participation at the trial. The state's action resulted in a denial of counsel at a critical point in the proceedings.

Over defense objection, the trial court instructed the jury concerning the aggravating circumstances dealing with heightened premeditation and cruelty. In spite of the jury's life recommendation, the trial court found these two aggravating

circumstances in sentencing James Savage to death. The evidence clearly does not support the finding of heightened premeditation. The unrefuted evidence establishes that James Savage intended only to steal the victim's car. Only after she caught him in the act did the episode turn violent. Savage challenges the jury instructions on both of these aggravating circumstances based on constitutional grounds. The bare-bones language of the instructions failed to adequately channel the jury's discretion in its decision relating to the imposition of sentence.

In the second portion of this brief, Mr. Savage challenges his conviction. In doing so, Mr. Savage maintains that, upon retrial, he could not be subject to the death penalty once again. Bullington v. Missouri, 451 U.S. 430 (1981). To hold otherwise would violate fundamental Double Jeopardy principles provided by the federal and state constitutions.

James Savage challenges on various grounds the admissibility of physical evidence and statements. The physical evidence was obtained from Mr. Savage during his detention at the police station prior to any Miranda warnings. Due to his cultural background, low intelligence, and recent status as a state prisoner, James Savage believed that he was under arrest and not free to refuse the detectives' requests. The totality of the circumstances rendered his consent involuntary.

Mr. Savage also challenges the admissibility of this evidence based on a <u>Giglio</u> violation. The police eventually arrested Mr. Savage based on a violation of probation. After trial and

sentencing, the Department of Corrections finally revealed that Mr. Savage was not on probation at the time. (See attached appendix) This renders the arrest illegal and all the fruits thereof inadmissible. At the very least, this Court should remand for a hearing to determine the nature and scope of the state's subornation of perjury in this case.

James Savage also challenges the trial court's failure to conduct individual and sequestered voir dire. The extraordinary nature of this case required sequestered examination of the venire. The overwhelming publicity in this case is revealed by the fact that over 92% of the first group of jurors knew about the case. Many of the potential jurors admitted to a subconscious bias, indicating that they thought that James Savage was apparently guilty. Some potential jurors had already decided that James was without doubt guilty. Prior to being excluded, other jurors heard these opinions expressed. This is one of the truly extraordinary cases, where the trial judge was required to allow exhaustive voir dire of the saturation publicity in an individual, sequestered setting.

When the police initially stopped James Savage, James made a comment to an officer questioning why he was being detained. Mr. Savage stated, "I've been standing around before when people have been murdered, and I haven't been arrested." (R1272) The trial court allowed the state to introduce this evidence over vociferous defense objection. The evidence was certainly not relevant to any

issue at trial. Any perceived minimal relevance is certainly outweighed by the probative value.

Reversible error also occurred when the trial court denied a defense request regarding James Savage's intoxication at the time of the offense. Florida requires the presiding judge to charge the jury upon the law of the case. A defendant is entitled to a jury instruction on any theory of defense, if there is evidence in the record to support it, regardless of how weak or improbable it may be. Voluntary intoxication is a defense to first degree murder. The state did not refute the evidence established by Mr. Savage's statements that he had been smoking crack cocaine at the time of the offense. The instruction was therefore justified.

James Savage's only defense at the guilt phase was his contention that the murder was second rather than first-degree. Over defense counsel's objection, the trial court instructed the jury on the maximum and minimum penalties for all lesser-included offenses. Defense counsel correctly contended that, should the jury realize that the trial court could place James on probation (an unlikely occurrence in any event), if they returned a guilty verdict for second-degree murder. The rules of criminal procedure and the holdings of this Court reveal that error occurred. The plain language of the rule authorizes such an instruction only for crimes charged. Since defense counsel made a timely and specific objection and pointed out the obvious prejudice, James Savage's convictions must be reversed.

The defense requested that any requests for funds for assistance be conducted on an exparte basis. The state objected, and the court refused to accept motions not served on the prosecution. In order to meet the burden required before funds will be granted, the defense was forced to make extensive disclosures of the evidence and strategy which supported their requests for funds. Various expert assistance was denied because counsel allegedly made an insufficient showing of need, constrained by the necessity of maintaining some level of confidentiality in the defense camp. Mr. Savage contends that the trial court's actions on this issue violate the dictates of Ake v. Oklahoma, 470 U.S. 68 (1985).

Savage also contends that the trial court erred in instructing the jury as to what was meant by the term "reasonable doubt." Condemnation of any attempt to define the term is almost universal, because the definition engenders more confusion than the term itself.

Savage also challenges the introduction of inflammatory, color photographs of the victim that undoubtedly inflamed the jury. The photographs were gruesome and unnecessary. Likewise, DNA "fingerprint" evidence was allowed by the trial court. The reliability of this type of evidence has recently been called into question. Admittedly, this case may not be the best with which to test the admissibility of such critical evidence. If this evidence is to be admitted in Florida courts, a full evidentiary hearing

should be held to air the conflicting reports on the reliability of the DNA method.

Finally, Savage challenges the sufficiency of the evidence. There was no corroboration of James Savage's purported statement that he had committed robbery. Furthermore, the only evidence as to the accused's state of mind were the alleged statements. These unrebutted statements established that Savage committed the crimes from the impulse to secure his next "fix" of crack cocaine. This establishes at most second-degree murder.

#### **ARGUMENT**

James Savage discusses below the reasons which, he respectfully submits, compel the reversal of his conviction and death
sentence. Each issue is predicated on the Fourth, Fifth, Sixth,
Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution,
Article 1 of the Florida Constitution, and such other authority as
is set forth.

SECTION 1: THIS COURT SHOULD VACATE JAMES SAVAGE'S DEATH SENTENCE AND REMAND FOR IMPOSITION OF A SENTENCE OF LIFE WITHOUT POSSIBILITY OF PAROLE FOR TWENTY-FIVE YEARS.

Mr. Savage respectfully submits his brief in two sections. The first section addresses the reasons why his sentence of death should be reversed and remanded for entry to a sentence of life without the possibility of parole for twenty-five years.

Section Two, which addresses various fundamental constitutional violations in the first phase of his trial, is filed contingent on this Court's ruling on an important issue which remains open in the State of Florida: Whether, where an 11-to-1 jury recommendation of life was improperly elevated to death by the trial judge, a second effort to impose a death sentence would violate the double jeopardy clause?

Mr. Savage respectfully suggests that a second death sentence would be unconstitutional. However, if this Court should decide that the jury override in his case was improper, but reversal of the guilt phase issues <u>could</u> result in a second trial with life at

stake, Mr. Savage wishes to forego the serious challenges to his conviction.

## I. THE TRIAL COURT SHOULD NOT HAVE OVERRIDDEN AN 11-1 JURY VOTE FOR LIFE IN THE FACE OF OVER-WHELMING EVIDENCE IN MITIGATION.

Jurors who sit on a capital case often come close to the facts of a homicide for the first and last time. As a result, some may be horrified by the fact of murder, and feel compelled to vote for the death penalty because they have never encountered such a crime before.

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