IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

S. SID J. VANTE JAN 10 1991 CLERA, PUNKEME COURT By. Deputy Clerk

JAMES HUDSON SAVAGE,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 75,494

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE EIGHTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR BREVARD COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

KELLIE A. NIELAN ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FL. BAR. #618550 210 N. Palmetto Avenue Suite 447 Daytona Beach, Florida 32114 (904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

POINT XI

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY INSTRUCTED THE JURY ON THE PENALTY FOR THE LESSER INCLUDED OFFENSES.

Savage contends that instructing the jury that a conviction for second degree murder may result in probation served only to encourage the jury to reject his sole defense to first degree murder, and as a result his convictions and sentences must be reversed and the case remanded for a new trial. The trial court did not exactly instruct the jury that a conviction for second degree murder may result in probation. Rather, after informing the jury of the maximum and minimum penalties for first degree murder, the trial court stated:

> If you find the defendant guilty of a lesser included crime, I have discretion to sentence the Defendant or to place him on probation.

(R 1523). Immediately prior to this, the court had told the jury that the possible results of the case were to be disregarded, and its duty was to discuss only the question of whether the state had proved guilt in accordance with the instructions (R 1522). The jury was later told that its duty was to determine if the defendant was guilty or not guilty, and it was the trial court's duty to determine the proper sentence (R 1546).

Appellee recognizes that in *Craig v. State*, 510 So.2d 857 (Fla. 1987), this court found that the action of the trial court in instructing the jury on the minimum and maximum penalties for all of the lesser included offenses of the crime charged was error. The instant case is distinguishable from *Craig* in that the court here did not instruct on the minimum and maximum penalty for each specific lesser included offense. Rather, it instructed the jury *once* as to the possible penalties that could be imposed should the defendant be convicted of one of the lesser included offenses. Appellee submits that the giving of such an instruction should not be deemed error.

First, there is no prohibition against doing such in Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.390(a). The rule simply states that "[e]xcept in capital cases, the judge shall not instruct the jury on the sentence which may be imposed for the offense for which the accused is on trial." When an accused is on trial for first degree murder, he is also, in the absence of an express waiver, on trial for all of the necessarily included offenses. *See, Harris v. State,* 438 So.2d 787 (Fla. 1983); Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.510. It is somewhat inconsistent to find error when a trial court does not instruct on second degree murder, and also find that it is error when a judge does instruct on second degree murder but also instructs on the applicable penalties for it.

In any event, even if this court determines that the trial court erred in so instructing the jury, the error is nonreversible on the ground that it was harmless beyond a reasonable In view of the overwhelming evidence of first degree doubt. murder, including Savage's own detailed accounts of the murder, it cannot be said the trial court's one instruction as to the possible penalties for the lesser included offenses could have affected the verdict. Further, the jury is presumed to follow the law, Adams v. Wainwright, 709 F.2d 1443 (11th Cir. 1983), and it was specifically instructed not to consider the possible sentence in its deliberations. The instruction was neither confusing, misleading, nor an incorrect statement of the law. Further, Savage simply cannot show prejudice, since the jury was instructed on felony murder as to the robbery and sexual battery, and since he was convicted on both of those crimes it is clear that there was no possibility of a conviction on a lesser included offense as to the murder. See, e.g., Buford v. Wainwright, 428 So.2d 1380, 1391 (Fla. 1983). Relief is not warranted.

POINT XII

THERE IS NO REQUIREMENT THAT REQUESTS FOR FUNDS FOR EXPERT ASSISTANCE DURING THE PENALTY PHASE BE HANDLED ON AN *EX PARTE* BASIS AND SAVAGE HAS FAILED TO DEMONSTRATE A DENIAL OF HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS.

- 97 -

Savage claims that expert assistance was denied because counsel had allegedly made an insufficient showing of need, as he was constrained by the necessity of maintaining some level in the defense camp. Savage is appealing both the denial of his request to make an *ex parte* request for experts, and the denial of what he terms "the requisite funds for his defense". Appellee will first address Savage's claim that he was denied requisite funds for his defense. Since the record demonstrates that this was clearly not the case, Savage cannot demonstrate prejudice in any form so relief is definitely not warranted on this claim. Appellee will then address Savage's claim that an indigent defendant should be permitted to make *ex parte* applications for funds for the preparation and presentation of the defense.

Savage states that the trial court denied funds for expert assistance on his drug and alcohol abuse, and that this error was not cured by the defense subsequently expending their own funds to secure this vital expert since this expenditure was made after the guilt phase. It thus appears that Savage is contending that he was denied expert assistance on the defense of voluntary intoxication at the guilt phase. The record clearly demonstrates that Savage never requested such assistance for the guilt phase. The first mention of such *ex parte* request was made at a hearing on October 27, 1989, and defense counsel specifically stated that such motion "outlines some of the things that we need for mitigation in this case, should a second phase in this death case be required" (R 1942). The motion itself demonstrates that the experts were requested for the penalty phase (R 3451-52). Thus, such claim is not even cognizable. It is ironic indeed that Savage can even raise such claim in the same breath that he questions why he should not be permitted to make an *ex parte* application for funds, and relies on a case where this court stated that it expects defense counsel for indigents to be responsible in their application for funds under Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.216. *See, State v. Hamilton,* 448 So.2d 1007, 1009 (Fla. 1984); (IB 103).

In terms of the penalty phase, the record demonstrates that while the trial court denied Savage's request for such funds for a named addictionologist and a named pharmacologist, both of whom were from Tallahassee, he told defense counsel that he would certainly reconsider such requests if local experts were found. Even in those cases where an indigent defendant is able to make a threshold showing that sanity is likely to be a significant factor in the defense, the defendant does not have the right to choose a psychiatrist of his personal liking or to receive funds to hire his own. *Ake v. Oklahoma*, 470 U.S. 68, 105 S.Ct. 1087, 84 L.Ed.2d 53 (1985). The record demonstrates that Savage requested and was granted two experts to evaluate him prior to trial (R 3369-71, 3382-83, 3389-91).²⁴ It certainly cannot be said that Savage was denied any constitutional rights.

Further, there is no requirement that requests for funds for expert assistance during the penalty phase be handled on an *ex parte* basis. Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.190 specifically provides that a copy of all pretrial motions shall

²⁴ Both motions were served on the State Attorney's Office.

be served on the adverse party's attorney before the time the original is filed. The *Ake* decision does not provide any additional rights that are not already provided for in Florida's rules.

The Ake Court first recognized that while it had never held that a State must purchase for an indigent defendant all the assistance that his wealthier counterpart might buy, it has often reaffirmed that fundamental fairness entitles indigent defendants to "an adequate opportunity to present their claims fairly within the adversary system. 105 S.Ct. at 1093, citing Ross v. Moffitt, 417 U.S. 600, 94 S.Ct. 2437, 2444, 41 L.Ed.2d 341 (1974). The Court went on to note that states such as Florida that make psychiatric assistance available to indigent defendants have not found the financial burden so great as to preclude this assistance, especially when this obligation is limited to provision of one competent psychiatrist, as it limited the right it recognized in the decision. 105 S.Ct. at 1094. It further stated that the indigent defendant does not have the right to choose a psychiatrist of his own liking or to receive funds to hire his and left the decision of how this right should be own, implemented up to the states. 105 S.Ct. at 1096.

Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.210 implements this right, and even goes as step further, as it removes from the trial court all discretion and requires it to appoint an expert solely on the basis of defense counsel's representations. *Oats v. State*, 472 So.2d 1143 (Fla. 1985). Further, under Florida's broad discovery provisions, each side knows well in advance what witnesses the other side will be calling, and in addition, the state cannot use any information from the defense until the defense puts it in issue. Thus, the concerns of the federal courts and other state courts, that the state will gain a In actuality, strategic advantage, are not present in Florida. the defendant to file such ex parte motions, permitting particularly where such experts will be used not to counter the state's proof but to establish independent facts, would put the state at the disadvantage, and provide the defense with the opportunity for trial by ambush.

The Ake Court noted that where the potential accuracy of the jury's determination is so dramatically enhanced and where the interests of the individual and the State in an accurate proceeding are substantial, the State's interest in its fisc must Appellee does not dispute the fact that in some yield. situations the State must provide expert assistance to an indigent defendant, but submits that when such defendant is going well beyond that scope of the Ake holding, which provides for one psychiatric assistant, and Florida's procedural rules, the state's interest in its fisc is much greater, and it should be permitted a voice on the issue. This is particularly true in a case such as this, where the defense was requesting funds for an investigator to travel to Australia, funds for an expert from Connecticut, as well as a variety of other experts. The state's interest is not in ascertaining trial strategy, which it is essentially privy to through the discovery rules. It simply has an interest in what the cost will be.

POINT XIII

THERE WAS NO OBJECTION TO THE TRIAL COURT READING THE STANDARD JURY INSTRUCTION ON REASONABLE DOUBT SO THE CLAIM IS WAIVED.

Savage contends that his jury should not have been instructed on the meaning of reasonable doubt or that it must convict absent such a doubt. The record in the instant case demonstrates that the trial court read the standard instruction on reasonable doubt, and defense counsel specifically agreed to that instruction (R 1458, 1541). Consequently, the claim has not been preserved for appellate review. Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.390(d); Squires v. State, 450 So.2d 208 (Fla. 1984). In any event, this court has previously approved the use of this standard instruction finding that it adequately defines "reasonable doubt". Brown v. State, 565 So.2d 304 (Fla. 1990).

POINT XIV

THERE WAS NO ABUSE OF DISCRETION IN THE ADMISSION OF EIGHT PHOTOGRAPHS OF THE VICTIM.

Savage contends that the introduction of a "plethora of gruesome photographs" denied him his right to a fair trial (IB 108). The trial court has discretion, absent abuse, to admit photographic evidence so long as the evidence is relevant. *Thompson v. State*, 565 So.2d 1311, 1314 (Fla. 1990). The record demonstrates that the trial court utilized extreme care in determining which photographs were relevant and therefore admissible, and no abuse of discretion has been demonstrated.

Argument concerning the admission of photographs occurred during the medical examiner's testimony after the jury was sent The trial court sustained objections to two of the out. photographs, and four others were withdrawn after the medical examiner said they were duplicative or not necessary for his testimony. Eight photographs were found to be admissible, two of which were cropped to reduce the prejudicial effect. One of the body was used for identification; one of the back of the neck showed no ligature marks and demonstrated the position from which the victim was strangled; one of the hand showed bruising, or evidence of a struggle; two showed various injuries to the face; one showed the crisscrossing of the ligature marks on the neck, which demonstrated that the victim was strangled twice; one showed the ligature imprint on the right side of the neck, which demonstrated the direction in which the force was applied; and one of the body at the scene showed the cord around the neck.

The photographs were relevant to establish the victim's identity and to show that Savage's out-of-court confessions were consistent with the physical evidence, and the fact that some of them may have been somewhat gruesome does not render the decision to admit them into evidence an abuse of discretion. *Thompson, supra.* The photographs were also used by the medical examiner to illustrate the nature of the victim's wounds, so any prejudice is outweighed by the probative worth of the photographs. *Haliburton v. State,* 561 So.2d 248 (Fla. 1990). Finally, the photographs were relevant to prove the violent and extensive nature of the wounds inflicted, and tended to support the claim that the murder was

- 103 -

heinous, atrocious, or cruel. Randolph, supra. The eight photographs admitted, none of which were cumulative, did not constitute an unusually large number of inflammatory photographs, and because the photos are not so shocking as to outweigh their relevancy, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting them. Nixon v. State, 15 F.L.W. S630 (Fla. November 29, 1990)(seven photos of charred victim).

POINT XV

THE DEFENSE STIPULATED THAT THE BLOOD ON SAVAGE'S SHIRT WAS THE VICTIM'S SO NO DNA EVIDENCE WAS ADMITTED AT TRIAL.

Savage acknowledges that the defense stipulated to the results of the DNA test, but states that it reserved for appeal the issues raised pretrial (IB 111). Savage reserved his right to appeal the search and seizure issue, but certainly cannot reserve any claims as to the reliability of the DNA evidence. (R 1197, 1210). Once the stipulation was entered into, any legal issue concerning the reliability of DNA evidence became an undisputable fact that the blood on Savage's shirt came from the victim. Appellate review of this issue has been waived.

In any event, there is an abundance of precedent favoring the admission of DNA evidence, or what Savage terms "latter-day voodoo". See, e.g., State v. Pennington, 393 S.E.2d 847 (N.C. 1990)(relevancy test); Kelly v. State, 792 S.W.2d 579 (Tex. Ct. App. 1990)(Frye²⁵ test); Glover v. State, 787 S.W.2d 544 (Tex. Ct. App. 1990)(Frye test); Caldwell v. State, 393 S.E.2d 436 (Ga. 1990)(relevancy test); Spencer v. Commonwealth, 393 S.E.2d 609 (Va.

²⁵ Frye v. United States, 293 F.2d 1013 (D.C. Cir. 1923).

1990)(Frye and relevancy tests); State v. Schwarz, 447 N.W.2d 422 (Minn. 1989)(modified Frye); Andrews v. State, 533 So.2d 841 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988)(relevancy or Frye); People v. Castro, 545 N.Y.S.2d 643 (Sup. Ct. 1989)(Frye test)²⁶; United States v. Jakobitz, Case No. 89-65 (D.C. Vt. September 20, 1990).

POINT XVI

THE EVIDENCE WAS SUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT THE VERDICTS.

Savage states that the defense correctly argued that there was no corroboration of his statement that he had committed robbery, and the state incorrectly countered by saying that there did not have to be any evidence of specific intent to rob. The defense actually argued that there was no proof of corpus delicti to show that robbery occurred until after the death, and if the victim was already dead when the items were taken it was a theft. The state correctly countered that the specific intent required for robbery was the intent to deprive, not the intent to use force, and since the robbery statute had been amended the force could occur before, after, or contemporaneously with the taking, so long as it was all in the same episode. §812.13, Fla. Stat. (1987).

It is not clear what the point of this claim is, or what relief is sought. Merely making reference to arguments below without further elucidation does not suffice to preserve the issues, and such claim should be deemed waived. *Duest v. State*, 555

²⁶ The *Castro* court did not admit the evidence due to the way in which the procedures had been performed, but found that the scientific theory was sound.

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